1980

State of Utah v. Alan Douglas Asay : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by Complaint and information with one count of Theft, in violation of Utah Code Annotated, §76-6-404 and §76-6-412 (1) (a) (i) (1953).

DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried by a jury before the Honorable A.H. Ellett in the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County, State of Utah and found guilty of Theft on February 11, 1980.

Appellant was sentenced for the term provided for law, but the sentence was suspended and Defendant allowed probation upon payment of a \$5,000.00 fine and restitution, all to be paid within one year, at which time probation would terminate.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks the reversal of the verdict and sentence of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the evening of July 10, 1979, Eric Rasmussen and his fiancée went to a theatre near Trolley Square, Salt Lake City, Utah, to attend a movie. The show ended at approximately 10:30 pm and when they returned to the spot where they had left their car they discovered it had been stolen. (T.31, lines 13-22)

Mr. Wayne Pascoe resides in Bountiful, Utah, in the vicinity of a business establishment which rented storage sheds to consumers. Shortly after 11:00 pm on the night of July 10, 1979, Mr. Pascoe spotted some suspicious activity in his neighborhood. (T.49, lines 24-29) His investigation lead him to a nearby storage shed where, from a distance of twenty to thirty feet, he observed two men park what he later learned was Mr. Rasmussen's car in the shed. (T.50, lines 29-3-, T.51, lines 1-2)

On the following day, the police were summoned by Mr. Pascoe to his residence in response to his report of suspicious circumstances in the vicinity of the storage shed. (T.35, line 28- T. 26, line 1) The police observed the Defendant removing automobile parts from his shed and placing them in the back of a pick-up truck. (T.36, lines 15-18) After questioning the Defendant for a few moments,

the police placed him under arrest. (T.37, lines 8-17). The automobile was later determined to be Mr. Rasmussen's auto.

At his trial, the Appellant testified as to how he came to be in possession of Mr. Rasmussen's vehicle. He related that he met two men approximately three weeks prior to his arrest who stated that they sometimes worked on automobiles. (T.68, lines 8-12, lines 21-23) As the Appellant's sister had damaged her car and needed some parts (T.68, lines 26-27), the Appellant gave the two individuals his phone number and asked them to contact him if they ever came across the appropriate parts. (T.69, lines 3-11) They phoned him on July 10, 1979, and told him they had the parts. (T.69, lines 15-20) As the Appellant had a date planned for that evening, he arranged to meet them briefly in order to give them the key to his storage shed so that they could place the parts there for his inspection. (T.69, lines 27-30) At no time did the individuals indicate to the Appellant that the parts were stolen. (T.69, lines 5-7)

The Appellant testified that when he visited his storage shed the following morning, he was surprised to find an entire vehicle in the shed. (T. 70, lines 24-27) He returned later in the afternoon to remove parts from the auto. (T.71, lines 3-8) Upon examining the vehicle, he determined that the parts he needed were in good shape (T.71, lines 19-21), but that the ignition was missing and the car

was otherwise inoperable. (T.71, lines 17-23) When the police arrived and began to question the Appellant, he became suspicious that the car was stolen. (T. 73, lines 16-20)

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY CONCERNING THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME AND THE DEFENDANT'S DEFENSE

At the conclusion of the Defendant's trial, defense counsel objected to the jury instructions of the Court. Specifically, the Defendant objected to Instruction No. 8 (attached) as given by the Court and the failure to include Defendant's proposed Instructions No. 1 and No. 7 (attached). Defendant has therefore preserved his right to challenge the sufficiency of the instructions provided by Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Defendant's objections, in general terms, center around the failure of the trial court to instruct adequately concerning the elements of the crime of theft in that neither the actus reus nor mens rea were properly defined; and the refusal of the trial court to instruct the jury concerning the Appellant's theory of defense.

- A. THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO APPRISE THE JURY OF THE NEED TO FIND BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE DEFENDANT POSSESSED CRIMINAL INTENT AT THE MOMENT HE ACQUIRED OR EXERCISED CONTROL OF THE PROPERTY OF ANOTHER.

It is well established that jury instructions must instruct the jury on all of the elements of a criminal offense, and that the jury must find the Defendant guilty

beyond a reasonable doubt as to each of those elements. It is further certain that the criminal intent of the Defendant is an element of theft.

Where there is a question concerning the intent of the Defendant, State v Cude (1) requires that an instruction present the question to the jury. In that case, the Defendant left his auto to be repaired at a service station. When he couldn't pay for the repairs, the station owner kept the auto to secure the Mechanic's Lien. The Defendant, believing that he had a right to reclaim his vehicle, went to the service station during the night and drove it away. The majority wrote:

"It is fundamental that an essential element of larceny is the intent to steal the property of another. Consequently, if there is any reasonable basis in the evidence upon which the jury could believe that the accused thought he had a right to take possession of the automobile, or if the evidence in that regard is such that it might raise a reasonable doubt that he had the intent to steal, then that issue should be presented to the jury...

This proposition is affirmed by the expression of the courts of numerous jurisdiction [footnote omitted]. In the Oklahoma case of Linde v State [footnote omitted], the court reversed a conviction for larceny upon the ground of the trial court's failure to give a requested instruction to the effect that:

'If at the time of the taking of the property by the Defendant he in good faith believed said property was his or they had reasonable doubt to that effect, they should acquit him. This although he may have been mistaken in such belief.' " (2)

The Defendant's testimony that he believed that he was lawfully purchasing auto parts from two acquaintances provides a "reasonable basis upon which the jury could believe that the accused thought he had a right to take possession" of the property. Therefore, State v Cude requires that the trial court have instructed the jury regarding the issue of the Defendant's intent. Further, the failure to instruct upon an essential element of the crime charged is reversible error. (3)

Looking at the instructions given by the trial court in their entirety, there are two possible instructions which might be argued as addressing the issue of intent. The first of these is Instruction No. 8, which reads in part:

"Before you can convict the Defendant of the crime of Theft, you must find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, all of the following elements of the crime: 4. [That the Defendant] did commit the offense of theft, in that he did obtain or exercise unauthorized control over the property of another, to-wit, an automobile in operable condition, with the purposed to deprive the owner thereof..."

The phrase "he did obtain or exercise unauthorized control over the property of another" fails to address the issue of intent, as it merely specifies the forbidden conduct. The phrase contains no warning to the jury that they must find that the Defendant obtained or exercised control over property knowing that he was unauthorized to obtain or exercise such control.

The final clause of the quoted language, "with the

purpose to deprive the owner thereof", also does not inform the jury that they must find that the Defendant had criminal intent. The term "purpose to deprive" is clearly defined at 76-6-401 (3):

" 'Purpose to deprive' means to have the conscious object:

- (a) To withhold permanently or for so extended period or to use under such circumstances that a substantial portion of its economic value, or the use and benefit thereof, would be lost; or
- (b) To restore the property only upon payment of a reward or other compensation; or
- (c) To dispose of the property under circumstances that make it unlikely that the owner will recover it."

Under its statutory definition, therefore, the phrase "with the purpose to deprive the owner thereof" does not relate to intent at all, but rather to the definition of a taking as an element of theft. For example, a person purchasing merchandise in a store has the purpose to deprive the owner of the property under the definition state at 76-6-401 (3), but still lacks the criminal intent. Nothing in the statutory definition of "purpose to deprive" requires that the person know that he has no right to withhold the property from the owner, or know that his taking the property is wrongful.

One might argue that the phrase "purpose to deprive the owner thereof" was not used in a technical sense, but rather was used as customary, everyday language. As the Judge was instructing the jury on the elements of the crime

of theft, and the "purpose to deprive the owner thereof" is an element of theft (4), the more logical view is that the Judge did intend the phrase to have its statutory meaning.

The second instruction which arguably pertained to criminal intent is Instruction No. 13 (attached). The portion of this instruction which relates to *mens rea* reads as follows:

"In the crime charged in the Information, there must exist a union or joint operation of act or conduct and criminal intent. To constitute criminal intent, it is not necessary that there should exist an intent to violate the law. Where a person intentionally does that which the law declares to be a crime, he is acting with criminal intent, even though he may not know that his act or conduct is unlawful."

Two faults lie with this instruction. First, while the Court clearly informed the jury in Instruction No. 8 that the State had to prove each of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, Instruction No. 13 contains no similar statement placing the burden of showing intent upon the State. Nor does the instruction make clear that the criminal intent must exist at the time of the taking. Instruction No. 13, therefore, fails to adequately instruct the jury that criminal intent is an element of the crime of theft which must be proved by the prosecution beyond a reasonable doubt.

Instruction No. 13 is identical in all material respects with an instruction ratified in State v Smith. (5)

The second problem with Instruction No. 13 is that it was extracted from State v Smith out of context from the facts of that case. In State v Smith, the Defendant delivered a check in exchange for a deed to real property knowing that he had insufficient funds in his checking account to cover the check. His defense was that he claimed to have told the payees that the check would not be honored by the drawee but that he would call them when he deposited the necessary funds. The question presented was whether he could be convicted even though he did not realize the criminality of his conduct in issuing a check in excess of his funds, since he intended to ultimately honor the check. The Utah Supreme Court approved the language of the instruction given to the jury at Defendant Smith's trial, but Justice Wilkins explained their approval by writing, "The trial court's instruction is a statement of 'ignorance of the law is no defense', and is an accurate statement of the law applicable to the criminal charges in the instant case." (6)

It is therefore clear that the instruction approved in State v Smith is proper where the issue raised is the defense of mistake of law. But that is not the issue in the present case. The Appellant's defense is that he made a mistake in fact, in that he believed that he was authorized to remove the parts from the automobile. Instruction No. 13 could only have lead the jury to conclude that the Defendant was guilty of theft, if the State proved that he obtained

or exercise unauthorized control over the property of another, even if the jury found that he honestly believed he had a right to the property. As applied to the facts of this case, Instruction No. 13 has created a kind of strict liability theft offense, dispensing with the mens rea requirement entirely. Such a result is contrary to both Utah caselaw and Utah statutes.

Both Instruction No. 8 and Instruction No. 13 fall short of properly defining for the jury the criminal intent element of the offense of theft. Taken as a whole, the trial court's instructions fail to turn the jury's attention to the question of whether the Defendant possessed criminal intent at the time he exercised unauthorized control over the property of another.

Either Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. 1 or No. 7 (attached) would have remedied the omission of a mens rea instruction by the trial court. Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. 1 simply recites the defenses to a theft prosecution found at §76-6-402, U.C.A. 1953. These defenses each involve the Defendant's assertion that he had a right to the property which was the object of the alleged theft, and thus relate to the criminal intent of the accused. Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. 7 more directly confronts the question of intent by specifically stating that a felonious intent must exist at the time of the taking.

The error of the trial court in failing to properly

instruct regarding the element of intent is not simply harmless error. There was never any doubt that it was the Defendant who was arrested while removing parts from an automobile which he later learned was stolen; the only question was whether he honestly believed that he had a right to remove the parts. By improperly instructing the jury on the element of criminal intent, the trial court effectively removed the only genuine issue from in front of the jury and precluded the Appellant from receiving a fair trial. His conviction must therefore be reversed.

B. THE TRIAL COURT REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE
JURY ON THE APPELLANT'S THEORY OF DEFENSE

In Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. 1 (attached), the Defendant requested the trial court to instruct the jury regarding his theory of defense. The requested instruction would have instructed the jury that it was a defense to the information if the Defendant acted under an honest claim of right to the property or an honest belief that he had a right to exercise control over the property, or if he honestly believed that the owner would have consented to his exercise of control if he had been present. This instruction is certainly an accurate statement of the law, as it is taken almost verbatim from §76-6-402 U.C.A. 1953, which lists defenses to the charge of theft.

Defendant's Proposed Instruction No. 1 was denied by the trial court, and no substitute instruction on the Defendant's theory was give to the jury.

Utah caselaw clearly commands a trial court to instruct the jury on the theories of both the Defendant and the prosecution, and the failure to do so is reversible error. (7) However, before a Defendant is entitled to an instruction on his defense, there must be sufficient evidence before the jury to justify the instruction. This evidentiary burden can be conveniently divided into two components: the focus of evidence required and the quantity of evidence required.

The question of the focus of the required evidence was addressed in State v Johnson. (8) That case involved an accused charged with involuntary manslaughter who argued that the circumstances surrounding the killing entitled him to an instruction of the defense of self-defense. The majority wrote

"It is admitted that the Defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case if there is any substantial evidence to justify giving such an instruction. However, when the legislature permits a Defendant to avoid the consequences of his act because the killing was excusable, an instruction is not necessary unless the facts and circumstances impelling the accused to act are in some way consistent with the legislative intent to excuse." (9)

The Court then examined several cases dealing with self-defense instructions and continued:

"It will be noted from the resume of the evidence as given that in most of the quoted cases, the evidence of the Defendant established a state of facts which, if believed by the jury, established adequate provocation, lawful acts on the part of the Defendant, or other aggravating facts not present in the case at bar.

Had the Defendant's evidence in this case presented an issue of fact under any one of the provisions of our excusable homicide statute, then he, too, would have been entitled to an instruction on one part or all parts of the section." (10)

State v Johnson speaks to the focus of the evidence which must be presented to entitle an accused to an instruction of his defense. The evidence which he offers must be consistent with the defense provided by the Legislature and relate to the provisions of the legislative defense. As applied to the offense of theft, State v Johnson indicates that the evidence of the accused must be consistent with the rationale behind the legislative defense and relevant to the specific provisions of §76-6-402, U.C.A. 1953.

The quantity of the evidence which must be offered by a Defendant to entitle him to an instruction on his theory of a defense is a different question. State v Johnson refers to substantial evidence as the requisite quantum of proof, but this issue was not adequately addressed until State v Castillo. (11) Once again the Utah Supreme Court was confronted by a Defendant's claim that he killed another while acting in self defense, and the Court wrote:

"Both the State and Defendant agree that a Defendant is entitled to have a jury instructed on his theory of the case, if there be any substantial evidence to justify giving such an instruction...

If the Defendant's evidence, although in material conflict with the State's proof, be such that the jury may entertain a reasonable doubt as to whether or not he acted in self-

defense, he is entitled to have the jury instructed fully and clearly on the law of self-defense. Conversely, if all reasonable men must conclude that the evidence is so slight as to be incapable of raising a reasonable doubt in the jury's mind as to whether a Defendant accused of a crime acted in self-defense, tendered instructions thereon are properly refused." (12)

In general terms, therefore, State v Castillo held that a Defendant is entitled to an instruction on his theory of defense unless as a matter of law, he has offered so little and such poor evidence that no jury could possibly believe his story. The Court is essentially stating that the Defendant is entitled to an instruction on his defense unless his evidence fails to present a question of fact for the jury to decide, similar to where a directed verdict is appropriate in a civil suit. This standard must be construed most favorably to the Defendant, as any other reading of State v Castillo would endanger the Defendant's right to a jury trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

The evidence presented at trial by the Appellant in this case easily meets the evidentiary standards declared in State v Johnson and State v Castillo. The Defendant was charged with the theft of the vehicle. In his defense, he testified that he had met two young men three weeks previous to his arrest, given them his phone number, and told them to phone him if they ever came across parts which were compatible with his sister's damaged car. (T.68, lines 4-15, T.69, lines 3-11) On the night that he received the call, he had

a date with his girlfriend planned, so he met with them only briefly. He gave them the key to his storage shed and instructed them to leave off the parts for his inspection the following day. (T.69, lines 27-30)

To an extent, this story was corroborated by Mr. Wayne Pascoe, a witness for the State. Mr. Pascoe testified that he saw two men the night the theft occurred, parking the car in Mr. Asay's storage shed, and that there was within thirty feet of them during this process; yet he could never identify the Appellant as either of the two men. (T.50, line 29-30, T.51, lines 1-2, T.59, lines 8-19). Even though it was dark, the failure of Mr. Pascoe to identify the Defendant supports the Defendant's story that he was buying parts from two men.

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