1980

# State of Utah v. Alan Douglas Asay : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

And in Ulster County Court v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 157 (1979), the Supreme Court said that a permissive presumption "does not shift the burden of proof."

This Court has said that an unsatisfactory explanation is one which is false, unreasonable or improbable, while a satisfactory explanation is one in which a jury of ordinary intelligence, discretion and caution may repose confidence. State v. Brooks, 101 Utah 584, 591, 126 P.2d 1044, 1046 (1942). The burden on the defendant is to explain his possession. If he is innocent of any wrongdoing, then his explanation will be reasonable and satisfactory. See State v. Eastmond, 28 Utah 2d 129, 133, 499 P.2d 276, 279 (1972). To say, however, that the burden of producing a satisfactory explanation rests on the defendant is misleading, because the permissive presumption "need not be rebutted by affirmative proof or affirmative evidence but may be rebutted by any evidence or lack of evidence in the case." Ulster County Court v. Allen, supra, at 161 n. 20.

Appellant makes the untenable argument that a defendant may offer any explanation of his possession and that explanation will be deemed satisfactory until specifically rebutted by the prosecution. This contention was rejected in State v. Thomas, 121 Utah 639, 642, 244 P.2d 653, 655 (1952), where the Court said "[The] explanation, standing by itself,

may be regarded as 'satisfactory.' However, it is to be measured in the light of all the surrounding circumstances and the other evidence in the case."

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-402(1) (1953, as amended), does not require the prosecution to prove that a silent defendant cannot offer a satisfactory explanation, State v. Jolley, 571 P.2d 582, 584 (Utah 1977), nor does it require the prosecution to produce rebuttal evidence when a defendant offers a vague, unreasonable and improbable explanation.

The Supreme Court in Barnes v. United States, 412 U.S. 837 (1973), said:

. . . the mere fact that there is some evidence tending to explain the defendant's possession consistent with innocence . . .

a fact not present in the instant case,

. . . does not bar instructing the jury on the inference. The jury must weigh the explanation to determine whether it is 'satisfactory' . . . The jury is not bound to accept or believe any particular explanation any more than it is bound to accept the correctness of the inference. Id. at 845, n. 9, (emphasis added).

Since the jury is free to reject any explanation offered by a defendant in light of the evidence adduced at trial, it necessarily follows that there is no burden on the prosecution to produce additional evidence in rebuttal.

Upon completion of the prosecution's case, appellant offered a fanciful tale of mystery hitch-hikers who clandestinely delivered a vehicle to his storage shed. To aid the jury, the

prosecution highlighted several inconsistencies between this tale and the evidence.

Appellant testified that these mystery men called him at 6:00-6:30 p.m., on the night of the theft, to say they had the parts he wanted, (T. 76), but the vehicle was not out of the victim's possession until 8:00-8:30 p.m. (T. 95). The mystery men had offered to sell the parts to appellant, but they never returned to be paid for them (T. 80). Appellant testified that he thought he could remove the desired auto parts because the car looked "beat up" and like a "junk heap" (T. 77), but when appellant was shown photos of the car at trial, he acknowledged that the vehicle did not look "beat up" (T. 78). The prosecution also pointed out that a camera, cassette tapes and check book were in plain view on the floor of the vehicle, suggesting that it was unreasonable to believe the vehicle was old and abandoned (T. 97). Finally, the parts were supposedly needed to repair appellant's sister's mustang (T. 68), but appellant's sister was not called to corroborate this. The jury evaluated this explanation in light of the evidence adduced at trial and rejected it as unsatisfactory.

D

WHEN THE INSTRUCTION IS CONSID-  
ERED IN LIGHT OF THE WHOLE CHARGE,  
THE JURY COULD NOT HAVE BEEN MISLED.

A permissive presumption does not shift the burden of proof. Even if we assume that there was some error in the wording of the instruction, any harmful affect was eliminated by the rest of the charge.

In State v. Criscola, 21 Utah 2d 272, 444 P.2d 517, 520 (1968), this Court said:

If [the instructions] are looked at all together as they should be, the issues to be determined were stated to the jury in a clear and understandable manner. The trial judge adequately explained to them the elements of both [crimes] as defined in our penal code, and that they must find each and all of them beyond a reasonable doubt before they could render the verdict of guilty.

Accord, State v. Coffey, 564 P.2d 777, 779 (Utah 1979); State v. Burch, 17 Utah 2d 418, 419, 413 P.2d 805, 807 (1966).

In the instant case the jury was clearly instructed regarding the elements of theft as defined in our criminal code (Instruction #8, R. 49). The jury was further instructed that it must presume the innocence of the defendant and that it may not find the defendant guilty of the crime charged until the prosecution has proved guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (Instructions #7, #10, R. 48, 50). When looked at as a whole, the charge properly instructed the jury on the elements of the crime of theft and on the burden of proof which the prosecution must meet.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE ELEMENT OF CRIMINAL INTENT.

The jury was instructed that in order to find appellant guilty, they must find that each of five elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. The fourth element required that the defendant:

4. Did commit the offense of theft, in that he did obtain or exercise unauthorized control over the property of another, to-wit, an automobile in operable condition, with the purpose to deprive the owner thereof. (R.49, emphasis added.)

This is a nearly verbatim statement of the language in the Utah theft statute, Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-404 (1953, as amended).

It would seem to be unnecessary to point out that the phrase "obtain or exercise unauthorized control over the property of another" constitutes the actus reus of theft, the proscribed conduct, and that the phrase "with the purpose to deprive the owner thereof" constitutes the requisite mens rea or criminal intent. Appellant, however, argues that the underlined portion of element 4 does not relate to intent, but somehow further defines the physical act. Appellant hypothesizes that "a person purchasing merchandise in a store has the purpose to deprive the owner of the property under the definition stated at

76-6-401(3) but still lacks criminal intent." (App. Brief at 7). Appellant fails to consider that once an agreed upon exchange, i.e. sale, has taken place, the purchaser is the owner of the property. The three definitions of "purpose to deprive" found in Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-401(3) (1953, as amended), all contain an element of loss or injury to the owner. No reasonable construction of the theft statute could lead to the conclusion drawn by appellant.

Appellant asserts that "nothing in the statutory definition of "purpose to deprive" requires that the defendant know that he has no right to withhold the property from the owner, or know that his taking is wrongful." (App. Brief at 7). Appellant wants this Court to believe that he may obtain unauthorized possession of the property of another with the intent to benefit thereby to the detriment of the true owner, and yet, not realize that his taking is wrong. Such a position is palpably untenable.

That the instant statute and instruction say "purpose to deprive" instead of "intent to deprive" does not remove the element of intent from the consideration of the jury. Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, at 1400, defines "purpose" as "an end, intention, or aim." It further defines "intent" as "purpose, signification, intendment," and "intention" as "will, purpose, design."

at 1028, defines "purpose" as "an intention" and "intention" as "purpose. That which is intended," and "intent" as "with fixed purpose, Noun: purpose." Id. at 646. That "intent" and "intention" are synonymous, see Words and Phrases, Perm. Ed. Vol. 22, at 12, 22-23. This Court has frequently held that "purpose to deprive" constitutes the mens rea element of the crime of theft. E.g., State v. Norman Laine, No. 16768, decided September 12, 1980; State v. Smith, 571 P.2d 578, 581 (Utah 1977).

Appellant made no objection to Instruction #13 at trial, but now attempts to attack the instruction on appeal alleging two deficiencies. Under Utah R. Civ. P., Rule 51, appellant may not assign error to an instruction which he took no exception to. State v. International Amusements, 565 P.2d 1112, 1113 (Utah 1977); Patton v. Evans, 92 Utah 524, 529, 69 P.2d 969, 971 (1937). Valid state interests are promoted by adherence to the rule; consequently, it should be rarely circumvented. State v. Kazda, 545 P.2d 190, 192 (Utah 1976); State v. Carter, 27 Utah 2d 416, 418, 497 P.2d 26, 27 (1972).

Rule 51, however, does allow the reviewing court, in the interests of justice, to consider the giving of or failure to give an instruction where no objection was made. This Court has exercised this power where the error has amounted to a denial of due process. State v.

Villiard, 27 Utah 2d 204, 205, 494 P.2d 285, 286 (1972).

see State v. Cobo, 90 Utah 89, 101, 60 P.2d 952, 958 (1936).

In the interests of justice, the state will respond to the alleged deficiencies improperly raised by appellant and to an issue presented in Instruction #13 which appellant has not addressed.

Appellant acknowledges that the instructions are to be read as a whole but fails to do just that. Appellant first alleges that Instruction #13 (R. 52), fails to instruct the jury that the state must prove intent beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury was so instructed in Instruction Nos. 7, 8 and 10 (R.48,49,50). Second, that Instruction #13 fails to require that the requisite criminal intent exist at the time of the taking. Instruction #8 states that defendant must "obtain control . . . with the purpose to deprive." (Emphasis added.) When the instructions are read as a whole, State v. Criscola, 21 Utah 2d 272, 276, 444 P.2d 517, 520 (1968), there is no error.

Appellant further attempts to argue that Instruction #13 was improper based upon State v. Smith, 571 P.2d 578 (Utah 1977), in which the defendant was charged with issuing a bad check and theft by deception. Appellant misstated the facts of that case when he said the defendant ultimately intended to honor the check he uttered in exchange for a deed (App. Brief at 9). This Court found that defendant uttered a check for \$32,453 on an account whose



balance never exceeded \$1,045 and which was overdrawn at that time by \$539. This Court concluded that the funds promised to cover the check were nonexistent. In Smith, the jury was instructed that to find defendant guilty of theft by deception, they must find that the property was intentionally and knowingly obtained and that it was obtained by deception and with the purpose to deprive the true owners thereof. This Court said, "[t]he jury was properly instructed with regard to culpable mental state." Id. at 581.

An additional and apparently unnecessary instruction, regarding mental state, was given in Smith. Instruction #12, therein, is nearly identical to Instruction #13 given in the instant case, Defendant Smith argued that the instruction had the effect of presuming intent from the act. This Court found no error in the giving of Instruction #12 and said that it is merely a statement that "ignorance of the law is no defense." Id. at 580-581.

Appellant attempts to argue that Instruction #13 is improper in this case because the issue, herein, is a mistake of fact, while in Smith, the issue was a mistake of law (App. Brief at 9). Appellant has failed to discern the real issue raised by Instruction #13.

The specific problem with Instruction #13 is that it defines general criminal intent, while the crime of theft requires a specific criminal intent. The argument to be made is that the jury might convict upon finding general intent, i.e., that defendant intentionally did that which the law declares to be a crime, even though he may not know that his actions are unlawful. The crime of theft however, requires the specific intent of, "with the purpose to deprive the owner thereof." It appears that neither party in State v. Smith, supra, adequately presented this issue to the Court.

The California courts have held that giving the irrelevant general intent instruction is error, but not necessarily prejudicial error. For example, in People v. Butcher, 345 P.2d 127 (Cal. 1959), the defendant was charged with rape, robbery and burglary. The jury was instructed on both general and specific criminal intent but was not instructed as to which intent was required for each crime. The court found that where the only real evidence was uncontradicted by the defendant, the evidence was so conclusive that the error did not influence the verdict. Id. at 134. In the instant case, the state's evidence was essentially uncontradicted. The only evidence presented by appellant was the patently unbelievable tale he told in court. When the jury properly rejected this tale as false, the only evidence to be considered

was the state's case in chief.

In People v. Booth, 243 P.2d 872 (Cal. 1952), the jury was instructed on general criminal intent and on the specific intent required for the crime of lewd and lascivious acts with a child under 14. This error was found to be non-prejudicial where the acts were "such as to preclude the belief they were committed without criminal intent." Id. at 874. In the instant case, appellant was found in possession of recently stolen property, under circumstances suggesting that he was attempting to conceal that property from view while he secured the fruits of the crime (T. 58). At the time of his arrest appellant made an incriminating statement, (T. 42), and at trial he gave an unreasonable and unbelievable explanation of his possession of the stolen property. These actions are wholly inconsistent with innocence, and preclude any belief that they were committed without criminal intent. It was error to give Instruction #13, in the instant case, because that instruction was irrelevant to the matter to be considered by the jury. But that error has not prejudiced appellant and therefore does not warrant reversal of his conviction. Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 30; see also, State v. Villiard, 27 Utah 2d 204, 205, 494 P.2d 285, 286 (1972).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON APPELLANT'S THEORY OF THE CASE.

Appellant correctly states that in order to receive an instruction based upon the statutory defenses found in Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-402(3) (1953, as amended), he must present evidence which is consistent with the legislative intent embodied in the statute. The focus of the evidence, however, is of secondary concern. The real question is whether appellant has presented substantial evidence to support his theory. State v. Maestas, 564 P.2d 1386, 1390 (Utah 1977); State v. Newton, 105 Utah 561, 564, 144 P.2d 290, 292 (1943).

This Court set the standard in State v. Castillo, 23 Utah 2d 70, 72, 457 P.2d 618, 620 (1969):

If the defendant's evidence, although in material conflict with the state's proof, be such that the jury may entertain a reasonable doubt as to whether or not he acted in self-defense, he is entitled to have the jury instructed. . . [on that theory]. Conversely, if all reasonable men must conclude that the evidence is so slight as to be incapable of raising a reasonable doubt in the jury's mind as to whether a defendant accused of a crime acted in self-defense, tendered instructions thereon are properly refused.

Appellant's fanciful tale, presented at trial, is nothing more than a self-serving fiction, totally devoid of substance or corroborating facts. Appellant attempts to find corroboration in the testimony of Wayne Pasco (App. Brief at

15). When asked if he got close enough to identify the two men at the storage shed, Mr. Pasco testified, "I got at one point within 20 or 30 feet, but being near 11:30 [p.m.], it was very dark." (T.51). It requires a rather tortured reading of Mr. Pasco's testimony to conclude that it somehow supports the story of appellant. In State v. Talarico, 57 Utah 229, 234, 193 P. 860, 861 (1920), this Court said: "While the theory of counsel, persistently and strenuously urged, was that of self-defense, it was nevertheless all theory and no evidence, all shadow and no substance." Appellant's story, herein, is nothing more than shadow. A spectre of the truth.

Even if the trial court had erred in refusing to give the requested instruction, that error would have been harmless. Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 30. The instructions, when read as a whole, require the jury to consider the testimony of appellant in reaching its verdict.

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